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GazdeFrance–2007 Interim financial report

This financial report contains the unaudited condensed
financial statements for the first half ended June 30, 2007,
which were reviewed by the Audit Committee on
August 27, 2007 and by the Board of Directors at its
meeting of August 28, 2007.

The 2007 half-year report should be read as a supplement
to the financial report for the year ended December 31,
2006 as it appears in the Registration Document filed with
the French Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF) on
April 27, 2007 under reference No. R.07-046 (“2006
Registration Document”).

The internal control system as described in the 2006
Registration Document is still in effect.

This financial report includes forward-looking statements
concerning the objectives, strategies, financial position,
future operating results and the operations of the Gaz de

France Group. These statements reflect the Group’s
current perception of its activities and the markets in which
it operates, as well as various estimates and assumptions
considered to be reasonable.

Readers are informed that these statements, based on the
data currently available, are subject to risk factors and
uncertainties. Actual results or events may, therefore, differ
from this information and forward-looking statements, to
which readers should not give any certainty. Moreover,
Gaz de France has no obligation to update the forward-
looking information in this document, with the exception of
the continuing information obligations required of
companies whose shares are listed for trading on a
regulated market.”

All subsequent forward-looking statements, both written
and oral, made by the company or in its name are
expressly tempered in their entirety by this notice.
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Message fromtheChairman

“During the First Half, Gaz de France showed its
robustness and resilience, despite particularly adverse
climate conditions.

Its soundness is a major advantage for Gaz de France,
which intends to continue and speed up its development in
the months to come, in all of its businesses. The
development dynamic embarked upon, in particular in
LNG, continues with the replacement of our fleet of
methane tankers and the LNG delivery agreements in the
United States. The development of our infrastructure
businesses has picked up in France as well as in Europe:
the new methane terminal in Fos Cavaou will be

operational by the end of the year, with commissioning
planned in early 2008. In Europe, we have just won a call
for tenders for the development, construction and
operation of a new storage site in the United Kingdom.

In addition, Gaz de France intends to take advantage of the
complete liberalisation of the energy markets and has been
offering, since 1 July 2007, a new range of energy
products and services for its clients in France and in
Europe.

By and large, the Group is confident in its fundamentals
and outlook, in the medium and long term.”
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Interimmanagement report

1. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FIRST HALF OF 2007
During the first half of 2007, the principal highlights were
as follows:

• Deregulation of the markets on July 1, 2007: Gaz de
France, a successful deregulation

- In June 2007, Gaz de France presented its new
commercial policy for residential customers, which is
structured around multi-energy and multi-service market
offers.

- The installation of the new Symphonie information
system associated with the market deregulation
continued: at the end of June 2007, there was a total of
6.2 million migrated customers, representing 59% of the
portfolio of consumer customers.

- The implementation of the new Omega information
system has enabled the Distribution business to
communicate to all natural gas suppliers data regarding
all customers of the Distribution network (11.5 million
customers) from July 1, 2007 on.

- The creation of the subsidiary in charge of the
Distribution business continued and will be effective at
the end of 2007.

• Stability of public distribution rates

- On June 15, 2007, the French Government decided
that the “price of natural gas will not rise in the coming
months.”

• Continued expansion of the Group in exploration /
production

- Purchase of interests in ten UK offshore licenses from
CGG Veritas.

- Start-up of gas production from the Minke field
(United Kingdom).

• Stronger Group position in the LNG sector

- Long-term access to the US LNG market thanks to an
agreement with Cheniere.

- Commissioning of a new LNG tanker, the Gaselys,
early in March 2007, enhancing the Group’s position in
the LNG industry.

• Confirmation of Cofathec’s leading position in Public-
Private Partnerships

- Cofathec signed a Public-Private Partnership with the
Hospital Center in Roanne to design, build, operate and
maintain an energy facility for a period of 18 years and
total revenues of 59 million euros.

• Development of the Group in infrastructure activities

- GRTgaz on June 25, 2007 published its 10-year
projections for growth of the transmission network in
France. This development plan may be viewed on the
website at: www.grtgaz.fr.

- New commercial offers in the infrastructure
businesses:

/ GRTgaz installed a new balancing system
operated by Powernext.

/ Gaz de France auctioned over 5.7 TWh in storage
capacities in the first half of 2007.

• Employee shareholding expanded

- The Gaz de France Board of Directors approved a free
share allocation plan “Actions + 2007” representing
approximately 0.16% of the company’s capital.
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2. REVENUES AND RESULTS FOR THE PERIOD
• The Group’s financial statements for the first half of
2007 have been prepared in accordance with international
accounting standards.

Pursuant to decisions made for the 2006 financial
statements, it should be noted that the Group applies
interpretation IFRIC 12 “Service Concession
Arrangements”.

In addition, following the implementation of the Group’s
new organization, certain activities have been reclassified
among the segments. The most significant
reclassifications and their impacts are described in section
2.1.2 below.

As a consequence, the results published below for the first
half of 2006 include the effects of the application of IFRIC
12 as of December 31, 2006 and of those reclassifications
(“H1 2006 restated”).

• The 2007 half-year financial statements do not reflect
any impact of standards and interpretations adopted, but
which need not be applied for the 2007 interim
statements, particularly IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures”, which introduces additional disclosure
requirements to enable users of financial statements to
assess the significance of the Group’s financial
instruments, the extent of risks inherent in the financial
instruments and the manner in which management
manages such risks.

This new standard specifically covers the nature of
information disclosed and will, therefore, have no impact
on earnings for the period. On the other hand, this new
standard has a significant impact on the presentation of
the Group’s financial statements and repercussions for the
information systems.

• To preparing its consolidated financial statements, the
Management of Gaz de France makes estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts recorded as assets,
liabilities, income and expenses in the financial statements
or in the notes to those statements.

The financial statements reflect the best estimates
available to Management, on the basis of the information
available as of the date the accounts are closed.

The accounting principles applied by the Group and the
assumptions or estimates relating to complex areas which
require a high degree of judgment, or which have a
significant impact on the financial statements, are
validated by the Group’s Management and have also first
been approved by the Audit Committee.

Final results may, however, differ substantially from
estimates based on assumptions or situations that may
prove to be different from those considered.

For the first half of 2007, the principal changes to the
estimates and assumptions used to prepare the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2006 concern the discount rate used to
calculate the amount of certain provisions, which has been
adjusted to current market conditions:

• Provision for replacement: 4.5% at June 30, 2007, 4%
at December 31, 2006 and June 30, 2006;

• Pension commitments: 4.75% at June 30, 2007, 4.25%
at December 31, 2006 and at June 30, 2006;

• Other employee benefits: 4.5% at June 30, 2007, 4% at
December 31, 2006 and at June 30, 2006.

• The section Risk Factors (Chapter 4) of the 2006 Gaz de
France Registration Document dated April 27, 2007
contains a detailed description of the risk factors to which
the Group is exposed. No risks or uncertainties other than
those presented in this document are anticipated.
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2.1 Financial highlights for the Group

In millions of euros H1 2007 H1 2006 Change %

Revenues 13,778 15,423 -11%

EBIDTA1

(before replacement
costs) 3,110 3,270 -4.9%

Operating income 2,326 2,547 -8.7%

Net Income –
Group share 1,505 1,695 -11%

Net Income per
share2 1.53 1.72 -11%

1 EBITDA given in this document means before replacement costs
(See notes to the consolidated financial statements for the period
ended June 30, 2007; Note 1 - 2 “Reconciliation of EBITDA with
the financial statements”)

2 Net income and diluted earnings per share attributable to Group
shareholders (see Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements); Number of shares outstanding at June 30, 2007:
983,871,988

Consolidated gas sales by
segment of the Gaz de France
Group* (TWh)

H1
2007

H1
2006

Sales by Purchase and Sale of
Energy 313 364

Sales by Transmission
Distribution International 63 74

Sales by Exploration-Production 26 29

Eliminations of inter-segment
sales -32 -28

TOTAL GROUP 370 439

(*) including the Gaz de France Group’s share in the energy sales
made by the proportionately consolidated companies.

2.1.1 These interim results can be analyzed
mainly with the following three factors :

• A very difficult context marked by on the one hand an
unusually mild weather in the first half of 2007, which
negatively affected nearly all businesses1, and on the other
hand unfavorable market conditions ;

Over the six-month period, sales were down in France by
25 TWh from an average climate half year2, while they
were positively impacted by 15 TWh in the first half of
2006. The same type of impact was seen outside France.

• A rate environment that favorably impacted trading
activities after a very difficult year in 2006 ;

• Good performances of international businesses.

In the context of this unusually mild weather, EBITDA
totaled 3,110 million euros, down 4.9% from the first half
of 2006. Operating income was 2,326 million euros, a
decline of 8.7%.

Group share of consolidated net income amounted to
1,505 million euros compared to 1,695 million euros for the
six months ended June 30, 2006.

The Group’s international expansion continued with a
percentage of revenues earned outside of France up to
41% from 37% in the first half of 2006.

2.1.2 Other

• Climate – recalibration of the climate
correction model

The Group’s climate correction model, established with
the support of Météo France, is subject to periodic
technical adjustments in order to update the results based
on actual data recorded.

The last adjustment made in April of this year resulted in a
reduction in the “annual reference consumption” (or the
“average climate annual consumption”) of 7.8 TWh from
the previous model.

This adjustment to the model modifies certain average
absolute climate data: sales volumes, revenues. In
contrast, it has no impact on the following changes:

• climate correction variations between periods;

• change in revenues based on average climate between
two periods.

1 The average temperature for the first half of 2007 represents a 1% risk, which means that such a temperature has a 1% risk of actually
occurring in the century.
2 The Group’s climate correction model was recently recalibrated by 7.8 TWh (see details in paragraph 2.1.2).
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• Petroleum prices and foreign exchange rate

Average price H1 2007 H1 2006 Changes

Brent (in USD) 63.3 65.7 -3.7%

EUR/USD rate 1.33 1.23 +8.1%

• Changes in scope of consolidation

The principal changes that occurred during the first two
periods are provided in the table below:

Entity
Nature of the
change Date Segment

ENERCI Acquisition – full
consolidation

01/01/2007 Exploration-
Production

EFOG Proportionate
consolidation
(previously
consolidated under
the equity method)

02/01/2007 Exploration-
Production

AES
Energia
Cartagena

Full consolidation 10/01/2006 Purchase
and Sale of

Energy

KGM Disposal 07/19/2006 Exploration-
Production

• Reclassifications among segments

As a result of the Group’s new organization, certain
businesses were reclassified among the segments. The
impacts of those reclassifications on revenues and
EBITDA per segment are given below; the most significant
reclassifications were as follows:

1. Transfer of the energy sale operations in the United
Kingdom from “Purchase and Sale of Energy” to the
“Transmission Distribution International” segment;

2. Transfer of Savelys and DK6 from “Services” to
“Purchase and Sale of Energy”;

3. Transfer of the European transmission operations from
the “Transmission Distribution International” segment to
the “Transmission – Storage France” segment, which is
now known as the Transmission – Storage segment;

4. Finally, the transfer of the major account sales
operations in Germany from “Transmission Distribution
International” to “Purchase and Sale of Energy”.

2007 Interim financial report page 6



Revenues
In millions of euros

H1 2006
Published

Impacts of
standards (1)

Effects of
reclassifications (2)

H1 2006
Restated H1 2007 Change %

Energy Supply & Services

Exploration – Production 905 - - 905 784 -13 %

Purchase and Sale of Energy 11,591 - -15 11,576 10,259 -11%

Services 1,096 +5 -182 919 908 -1.2%

Infrastructures

Transmission – Storage 1,097 - +65 1,162 1,179 +1.5%

Distribution France 1,672 +185 - 1,857 1,541 -17%

Transmission Distribution
International 2,003 - +905 2,908 2,571 -12%

Eliminations & other items -3,131 - -773 -3,904 -3,464

TOTAL GROUP 15,233 +190 - 15,423 13,778 -11%

with average climate -0.8 %

(1) Effects of the application of accounting interpretation IFRIC 12

(2) Effects of the segment reclassifications related to the implementation of the new organization

EBITDA
In millions of euros

H1 2006
Published

Impacts of
standards (1)

Effects of
reclassifications

and other (2)
H1 2006
Restated H1 2007 Change %

Energy Supply & Services

Exploration – Production 635 - - 635 531 -16%

Purchase and Sale of Energy 641 - +43 684 756 +11%

Services 96 - - 31 65 57 -12%

Infrastructures

Transmission – Storage 647 - +34 681 765 +12%

Distribution France 896 +4 - 900 686 -24%

Transmission Distribution
International 355 - -56 299 300 -

Eliminations & other items 4 - +2 6 15

TOTAL GROUP EBITDA 3,274 +4 -8 3,270 3,110 -4.9%

(1) Effects of the application of accounting interpretation IFRIC 12

(2) Primarily effects of the segment reclassifications related to the implementation of the new organization
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2.2 Revenues and results by segment

The table below shows the change in revenue, EBITDA, operating income and capital expenditures by business segment
between the first half of 2006 and the first half of 2007.

Revenues EBITDA

In millions of euros H1 2007 H1 2006 Change % H1 2007 H1 2006 Change %

Energy Supply and Services Division

Exploration-Production 784 905 -13% 531 635 -16%

Purchase and Sale of Energy 10,259 11,576 -11% 756 684 +11%

Services 908 919 -1.2% 57 65 -12%

Infrastructures Division

Transmission-Storage 1,179 1,162 +1.5% 765 681 +12%

Distribution France 1,541 1,857 -17% 686 900 -24%

Transmission Distribution International 2,571 2,908 -12% 300 299 -

Eliminations, other and non-allocated items -3,464 -3,904 15 6

TOTAL GROUP 13,778 15,423 -11% 3,110 3,270 -4.9%

In millions of euros

Operating Income Capital expenditures (1)

H1 2007 H1 2006 Change % H1 2007 H1 2006 Change %

Energy Supply and Services Division

Exploration-Production 367 470 -22% 261 254 +2.8%

Purchase and Sale of Energy 704 638 +10% 204 24 NS

Services 34 43 -21% 18 16 +12%

Infrastructures Division

Transmission-Storage 591 512 +15% 309 210 +47%

Distribution France 406 552 -26% 278 355 -22%

Transmission Distribution International 232 219 +5.9% 67 64 +4.7%

Eliminations, other and non-allocated items -8 113 11 3

TOTAL GROUP 2,326 2,547 -9% 1,148 926 +24%

(1) Equipment investments, including replacement costs, exploration expenses and finance leases
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2.2.1 Results for the Energy Supply and Services
Division

2.2.1.1 Exploration Production

• Revenues for Exploration Production amounted
to 784 million euros, down from 905 million euros for the
same period in 2006, a decline of 13%.

This change was the result of lower sale prices for oil and
gas, particularly on the British market, and the unfavorable
trend in the euro/dollar exchange rate. It was also driven
by a drop in the Group’s production. Total production
(including EFOG, which has been proportionately
consolidated since February 1, 2007) was 20.7 mboe for
the six months ended June 2007, down from 24.2 mboe
for first half 2006. In addition to the disposal of the
Group’s stake in KGM (1.9 mboe reduction over six
months), this change was also the result of a decline in
volumes sold under long-term contracts (volumes lifted
limited to contract minimums).

Total oil and gas production (including EFOG)(*)

H1 2007 H1 2006 Change

Combined production
(mboe) 20.7 24.2 -14.5%

Natural gas (mboe) 14.7 16.8 -12.5%

Liquids (mbl) 6.0 7.4 -18.9%

(*) EFOG has been proportionately consolidated since February 1,
2007: therefore, EFOG’s production was included in revenues for
Exploration Production as from that date.

• EBITDA for the first half of 2007 fell 16% to
531 million euros from 635 million euros in the first half of
2006, or down 25% on a like-for-like basis. This change
primarily reflects the decline in sale prices for
hydrocarbons (-78 million euros, net of royalties) and in
volumes produced (-68 million euros). To a lesser extent,
the increase in operating expenses was more than offset
by gains from asset disposals (33 million euros).

• Operating income came in at 367 million euros
down 22%, from 470 million euros in the first half of 2006.
On a like-for-like basis, the decline in operating income

was 31%, largely driven by the decline in EBITDA and an
increase in depreciation due to revisions to reserves at the
end of 2006 and the commissioning of new fields.

• Equipment investments (excluding exploration)
totaled 224 million euros in the first half of 2007, up from
206 million euros in the first half of 2006. The 2007
investments break down as follows: 56% in Norway, 24% in
the Netherlands, 12% in Germany, 7% in the United
Kingdom, and 1% in other regions.

• Exploration expenses totaled 37 million euros
in the first half of 2007, down 24% from 49 million euros in
the first half of 2006 due to timing differences in the
execution of the drilling program. The first half of 2007 was
marked by two exploration successes in Norway on 4
completed wells.

2.2.1.2 Purchase and Sale of Energy

• Revenues for the Purchase and Sale of Energy
segment fell 11% from 2006 to 10,259 million euros from
11,576 million euros. With average climate, revenues were
down 1.2%.

Natural gas sales for the Purchase and Sale of Energy
segment totaled 313 TWh, a decrease of 14%. With
average climate, the decline was limited to 3.6%.

Sales to individual customers in France totaled 65 TWh,
down from 86 TWh in the first half of 2006. They were
stable on an average climate basis.

Sales to business customers and major accounts in
France amounted to 130 TWh at the end of June 2007.
Excluding the weather effect on Business customers, sales
declined 19 TWh from the first half of 2006. In Europe,
sales on these same customer segments were generally
stable at 58 TWh, compared with 60 TWh in the first half of
2006.

Finally, short-term and other sales rose from 8 TWh to
60 TWh.

Electricity sales

In France, the portfolio of customers and electricity sales
more than doubled between the first six months of 2007
and the first half of 2006: electricity sales totaled 3 TWh,
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up from 1.4 TWh. This strong growth was generated
primarily by sales made on the short-term markets.

In Europe outside France, sales for the six months ended
June 2007 amounted to 6.2 TWh compared to 6.1 TWh in
the first half of 2006.

• EBITDA for the Purchase and Sale of Energy
segment totaled 756 million euros in the first half of 2007,
up 11% over first half 2006.

Climate adversely affected the segment by 385 million
euros (- 39 TWh compared to the first hal of 2006).

Conversely public distribution rates enabled to pass
through supplying costs on gas selling prices in the first
half of 2007, while it was not allowed in the first half of
2006 (negative impact of 331 million euros in the first half
of 2006).

• Operating income grew at the same rate as
EBITDA and rose from 638 million euros for six months
ended June 30, 2006 to 704 million euros in first half 2007.

• Equipment investments for the Purchase and
Sale of Energy segment amounted to 204 million euros for
the first half of 2007, up from 24 million euros in the first
half of 2006. This increase was primarily generated by the
expenses incurred for the construction of the Gaselys LNG
tanker and the construction of the combined cycle power
plant in Fos sur Mer (Cycofos).

2.2.1.3 Services

• Revenues generated by the Services segment
amounted to 908 million euros in the first half of 2007. The
negative impact of climate and gas prices on revenues
was offset by strong sales posted by our maintenance and
work operations in France.

• EBITDA for the Services segment was
57 million euros for the first six months of the year, down
8 million euros from the first half of 2006 (-12%), because
of a strong negative climate effect and the fact that 2006
non-recurring income from the sale of CO2 quotas was not
repeated.

• Operating income for first-half 2007 totaled
34 million euros, down 21% from 43 million euros in first
half 2006, due to the decline in EBITDA.

• Equipment investments in the Services
segment totaled 18 million euros over the first half of 2007,
up from 16 million euros in the same period in 2006. This
increase primarily reflects additional investments at
Finergaz.

2.2.2 Results for the Infrastructures Division

2.2.2.1 Transmission-Storage

• The Transmission-Storage segment posted
revenues of 1,179 million euros over the period, up 1.5%
from the first half of 2006.

This increase was caused by growth in the storage
business in France that was boosted by sales price
increases and a successful sale by auction of 5.7 TWh in
capacity. It should be noted that this business segment is
hardly exposed to climate risk.

• EBITDA amounted to 765 million euros in the
first half of 2007, compared with 681 million euros in the
first half of 2006, an increase of 12%.

Excluding non-recurring items, the Transmission-Storage
EBITDA grew at about 3.5%, driven principally by storage
sales.

• Operating income rose 15.4%, from
512 million euros in the first half of 2006 to 591 million
euros in the same period in 2007.

• Equipment investments incurred by the
Transmission-Storage segment in the first half of this year
totaled 309 million euros, up from 210 million euros in the
same period in 2006. The change between the two periods
primarily results from increased investment in the
tranmission network, particularly for the merger of the
North, East and West balance zones scheduled in 2009
and for the expansion of storage facilities.

2.2.2.2 Distribution France

• Revenues for the Distribution France segment
amounted to 1,541 million euros in the first half of 2007,
compared with 1,857 million euros in the first half of 2006.
This change was primarily driven by the impact of weather
effects.
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Excluding weather effects and the impacts of the
application of IFRIC 12, revenues fell slightly (3.1%),
primarily because of a decline in unit consumption.

• Very heavily impacted by the particularly mild
weather conditions in the six-month period, EBITDA for
Distribution France was 686 million euros in the first six
months of 2007, down from 900 million euros in the first
half of 2006. With average climate, EBITDA fell -1.3%
owing to costs related to the deregulation of the market.

• Operating income dropped from 552 million
euros in the first half of 2006 to 406 million euros in the
same period of 2007. In addition to the change in EBITDA,
the change in operating income mainly resulted from
impacts of the discounting of provisions.

• Equipment investments for the Distribution
France segment totaled 278 million euros in the first half of
2007, down from 355 million euros in the first half of 2006.

The change essentially results from the nearly-completed
program to replace grey cast iron pipeline based on the
schedule. At the end of June 2007, 34 km of identified
grey cast iron network were still outstanding and should
be replaced by the end of 2007.

For the first half of 2007, 41% of investments were
incurred as part of the industrial safety program (including
replacement of the grey cast iron pipelines).

Investments for growth related to the “one million new
heating customers” program represented 39%; during the
first six months of 2007, 138 km of network extensions
were connected, and Gaz de France won over 82,000 new
heating customers, bringing the total to more than 898,000
since the start of the program.

2.2.2.3 Transmission Distribution International

• Revenues generated for the first half of 2007
by the Transmission Distribution International segment
amounted to 2,571 million euros, down 12% from
2,908 million euros in the first six months of 2006. This
decline in activity is the result of the climate effects seen
throughout Europe and the sharp decline in gas prices in
the United Kingdom.

Excluding these two effects, segment sales rose 5.1%,
primarily because of rate hikes.

• EBITDA for the Transmission Distribution
International segment remained stable at 300 million euros

in the first half of 2007 compared to 299 million euros in the
first half of 2006, despite a strong negative climate effect.
With average climate the increase in EBITDA was 24%,
illustrating the improved profitability for this business.

• Operating income amounted to 232 million
euros in the first half of 2007 compared with 219 million
euros in the first half of 2006.

• Equipment investments made by the
Transmission Distribution International segment in the first
half of 2007 amounted to 67 million euros (64 million euros
in the first half of 2006). They included 36 million euros in
equipment expenditures incurred by Distrigaz Sud and
9 million euros by SPP.

2.3 Other financial items

• Operating income as of June 30, 2007
amounted to 2,326 million euros, down by 221 million
euros compared with June 30, 2006. In addition to the
decrease in EBITDA this change resulted from the rise in
amortization and provisions due to changes in the scope
of consolidation (namely proportionate consolidation of
EFOG) and the commissioning of new assets (E&P fields,
LNG tankers).

• Net finance costs as of June 30, 2007 were
68 million euros, down 6 million euros from June 30, 2006.
This change primarily reflects an increase in income from
cash and cash equivalents.

• Net other financial income and expenses
were a negative 31 million euros at June 30, 2007, an
improvement from 43 million euros at June 30, 2006,
primarily because of more favorable unrealized currency
gains and an increase in interest on current accounts and
margin calls paid, offset by the recognition of a gain of
56 million euros from the 2006 sale of Technip stock.

• The first half 2007 tax charge amounted to
735 million euros, down from 791 million euros for first half
2006, largely caused by the decrease in pre-tax income
between the two periods. The effective tax rate remained
at 33% in the first half of 2006.

• Consolidated net income – Group share
amounted to 1,505 million euros, down by 190 million
euros compared to the first half of 2006.
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• Operating cash flow before replacement
costs, taxes and changes in working capital requirements
amounted to 3,066 million euros in first half 2007,
compared with 3,439 million euros in the first half of 2006.

• Working capital requirements fell
1,461 million euros over the first half of 2007 due to the
seasonal nature of the business and the unusual weather
conditions.

• Total investments in the first half of 2007
amounted to 1,309 million euros, which can be analyzed
as follows:

• Investments excluding acquisitions for 1,241
million euros (capital expenditures for 1,021 million euros,
exploration costs charged to expense for 20 million euros,

replacement costs for 101 million euros, finance lease
investments for 6 million euros and other investments for
93 million euros);

• M&A expenditures amounting to 68 million
euros. These investments primarily reflected the
acquisition of exploration blocks by GDF Britain and
Cofathec acquisitions in Italy.

Gains on asset disposals totaled 127 million euros in the
first half of 2007 (163 million euros in the same period in
2006). It essentially represents the sale of the Cavendish
field and the sale of a business in Italy.

The information on related party transactions is provided
in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements; there
was no significant change.

3. FINANCIAL STRUCTURE
The Group’s net debt as of June 30, 2007, after dividend
pay-out, was 1,510 million euros, representing 8.6% of
shareholders’ equity, compared with 3,472 million euros at
the end of 2006, a decrease of 1,962 million euros.

Gross debt as of June 30, 2007 totaled 5,666 million
euros. Eighty percent of gross debt was long term and
76% was fixed rate after hedging. The gross debt was
primarily carried by the parent company, and 94% of the
gross debt is denominated in euros.

Gaz de France has a multi-currency syndicated loan of 3
billion euros maturing in 7 years, that is designed to
finance the Group’s general needs and to support the
short-term financing programs. This facility had not been
used as of June 30, 2007.

Gaz de France also has short-term financing programs via
a commercial paper program for 1.25 billion euros and via

a total program of Euro Commercial Paper and US
Commercial Paper for USD 1 billion. As of June 30, 2007,
only 250 million euros of the commercial paper program
had been used.

Dividends paid in the first half of 2007 totaled 1,083 million
euros, which included 1,082 million euros by Gaz de
France and 1 million euros for dividends distributed to the
minority shareholders of the fully consolidated
subsidiaries.

Gaz de France’s long-term debt is currently rated Aa1 and
AA- by Moody’s and Standard & Poors respectively, on
review with downgrade for the two agencies since
February 27, 2006.

The short-term ratings of Gaz de France have been
confirmed at the highest levels: A-1+ with Standard &
Poor’s and P-1 by Moody’s.
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4. DATA ON OUTSTANDING STOCK
The capital of the Company is 983,871,988 euros,
composed of 983,871,988 shares each with a par value of
one euro, all fully subscribed and paid up.

As of January 31, 2007, the Company’s capital was
broken down as follows:

Shareholders Percentage of capital

State 79.8%

Individuals and institutions 17.9%

Employees 2.3%

Employee shareholder – Free share allocation plan

In its Sixteenth Resolution, the Combined Shareholders’
Meeting of Gaz de France on May 23, 2007 authorized the
Board of Directors to allot free shares of common stock to
all Group employees.

Meeting on June 20, 2007, the Gaz de France Board of
Directors decided to implement a free share allotment
plan.

This “Actions + 2007” plan provides for the immediate
allotment of stock which will entitle holders, at the end of a
2-year acquisition period and for a portion of the shares,
subject to satisfaction of performance conditions, to
receive free shares in June 2009.

Those shares must be kept for a minimum of two years
until June 30, 2011.

This plan represents about 0.16% of the Gaz de France
capital, and the employee shareholders currently hold
2.3% of the capital.

No other equity instrument was allotted in 2007.

Treasury shares

Gaz de France has entered into a liquidity contract
pursuant to a decision of the Board of Directors on
April 26, 2006. This contract is in compliance with the
Ethics Charter established by the Association Française
des Entreprises d’Investissement (AFEI) and approved by
the French Autorité des Marchés Financiers (AMF) in a
decision on March 22, 2005. It has been signed with a
designated “market maker” bank (Rotschild & Cie Banque)
for a term of one year, which can be automatically
renewed.

The treasury shares held in the portfolio at the balance
sheet date under this contract are deducted from
shareholders’ equity.

As of June 30, 2007, Gaz de France holds no treasury
shares.

The number of shares purchased since January 1, 2007 is
equal to the number of shares sold and is 4,872,933. Total
purchases equaled 169 million euros and sales equaled
170 million euros, generating a gain of 1 million euros. The
cash assets not used to purchase shares have been
invested in a money market SICAV and generated gains
totaling 1 million euros. As of June 30, 2007, the resources
available in the liquidity account amounted to 59 million
euros.
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5. OUTLOOK

5.1 Financial objectives

The Group notes the 2007 financial objective presented
when the 2006 statements were published: “The year 2007
will be a year of consolidation. EBITDA is expected to be
in line with 2006.” This objective implies average climate
conditions over the second half of 2007.

5.2 Recent events, transactions and
projects

• Full market deregulation beginning on
July 1, 2007

The option to choose their natural gas supplier within the
EU as provided by European Directives :

• Has applied since August 2000 to major gas consumers.
In France, this option was established by a law dated
January 3, 2003 ; in order for these customers to be able
to exercise this right and, acting in accordance with a
provision from the direct application of the directive, Gaz
de France has implemented since August 2000 a rate for
accessing its network,

• Was extended to all customers other than residential
customers since July 1, 2004,

• Has been applicable starting July 1, 2007 to all
customers, including residential customers.

This final step of the market opening should not result in a
significant decrease in the customer portfolio nor have a
significant impact on operating performance of the second
half of 2007.

• Acquisition of storage capacities in the
United Kingdom

Gaz de France will develop under a 30-year concession
agreement the salt caverns storage capacities in Stublach
in the United Kingdom. The storage capacity will be 400
million m3 of working capacity.

• Acquisition by the Cofathec Group in the
United Kingdom

The Cofathec Grouphas acquired beginning of August the
Resource Environmental Services company. This company
specializes in mechanical and electrical maintenance and
installation work, and increases its nationwide portfolio of
maintenance contracts and provides a significant boost to
its presence in the United Kingdom.

• Infringement procedure launched by the
European Commission in July 2007

As a result of an investigation carried out in 2006, the
European Commission launched in July 2007 an
infringement procedure against Gaz de France and E.ON,
which it probes for allegedly agreeing to stay out of each
other’s markets namely through a gas pipeline built in the
70’s, operated by E.ON and designed to pump Russian
gas into the French and German markets.
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Consolidatedstatementsof income

(million euros) Notes
06.30.2007

6 months
06.30.2006*

6 months
12.31.2006
12 months

Sales of goods 11,917 13,584 23,849

Services rendered 1,816 1,791 3,671

Revenues from financial affiliates 45 48 122

Revenues 3 13,778 15,423 27,642

Purchases and other external charges 4 -9,446 -10,766 -19,976

Personnel expenses 6 -1,307 -1,298 -2,581

Other operating income 7 320 177 626

Other operating expenses 7 -336 -404 -856

Amortization and provisions 8 -683 -585 -1 247

Operating income 2,326 2,547 3,608

Income from cash and cash equivalents 64 31 73

Gross finance costs -132 -105 -196

Net finance costs 9 -68 -74 -123

Other financial income 9 204 281 515

Other financial expenses 9 -235 -355 -749

Share in income of associates 52 120 176

Income before tax 2,279 2,519 3,427

Corporate income tax -735 -791 -1 104

GROUP’S CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME 1,544 1,728 2,323

Group share 1,505 1,696 2,298

Minority interests 39 32 25

1,544 1,728 2,323

Earnings and diluted earnings per share (in euros) – Group
share 10 1.53 1.72 2.34

* Changes to formerly published comparative information are detailed under supplemental disclosure B-2
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Consolidatedbalancesheets

(million euros) Notes
06.30.2006

Net
12.31.2006

Net

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Goodwill 11 1,685 1,649

Concession intangible assets 11 5,648 5,704

Other intangible assets 11 619 564

Tangible assets 11 17,224 16,625

Investments in associates 505 718

Non-current financial assets 11 1,376 1,341

Non-current derivative instruments 18 85 17

Deferred tax assets 73 61

Other non-current assets 628 530

Non-current investments of financial affiliates 153 167

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS I 27,996 27 376

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories and work-in-progress 1,481 1,935

Accounts receivable

Trade accounts and related receivables 5,113 7,117

Income tax receivables 180 84

Other receivables 1,302 1,085

Current derivative instruments 18 1,528 2,325

Short term securities 464 360

Cash and cash equivalents 12 3,692 2,196

Assets of financial affiliates 383 431

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS II 14,143 15 533

TOTAL ASSETS I to II 42,139 42,909
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(million euros) Notes 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY – Group share

Share capital 13 984 984

Additional paid-in capital 1,789 1,789

Consolidated Reserves and net income 13,776 13,075

Translation adjustments 404 349

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY – Group share I 16,953 16,197

MINORITY INTERESTS II 556 466

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 17,509 16,663

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provision for employee benefits 15 1,103 1,142

Provisions 14 5,841 5,750

Deferred tax liability 2,749 2,608

Irredeemable securities 16 624 624

Financial debt 16 3,910 3,943

Non-current derivative instruments 18 14 8

Liabilities of financial affiliates 81 93

Other non-current liabilities 153 143

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES III 14,475 14,311

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 14 177 167

Social liabilities 544 556

Financial debt 16 1,132 1,461

Trade accounts and related payables 2,457 3,623

Income tax payables 565 208

Other tax liabilities 443 724

Other liabilities 3,062 2,615

Current derivative instruments 18 1,399 2,189

Liabilities of financial affiliates 376 392

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES IV 10,155 11,935

TOTAL LIABILITIES I to IV 42,139 42,909
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Consolidatedstatementsofcash flows

(million euros) Note 17 06.30.2007 06.30.2006* 12.31.2006
I – Operating Activities

Income before tax 2,279 2,519 3,427

Amortization, depreciation of long-term assets 745 723 1,478

Provisions 38 - 63

Exploration expenses 30 23 86

Other adjustments -26 174 64

Operating cash flow before tax, replacement costs and change in
working capital 3,066 3,439 5,118

Replacement costs -101 -138 -294

Changes in working capital requirements 1,461 617 -410

Inventories 487 43 -461

Trade and related receivables 2,319 1,406 150

Trade and related payables -1,254 -767 293

Other -91 -65 -392

Corporate income tax paid -550 -530 -1,348

Cash flow from operating activities I 3,876 3,388 3,066

II – Investing activities

1. Investments

Capital expenditures -1,021 -775 -2,169

Exploration costs directly charged to expense -20 -13 -41

Acquisition of investments and related net of cash acquired -68 -53 -487

Other -93 -303 -519

Sub-Total -1,202 -1,144 -3,216

2. Proceeds

Connection fees 6 3 8

Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible assets and
investments 127 163 935

Proceeds from the sale of other financial assets and repayments 59 47 76

Interests received 52 7 -31

Dividends received 24 25 54

Sub-total 268 245 1 042

Cash flow from investing activities (1 + 2 ) II -934 -899 -2,174

III – Cash flow from operating and investing activities (I + II) III 2,942 2,489 892

IV – Financing activities

Capital increase and additional paid-in capital 17 67

Treasury shares 1 -18 1

Dividends paid -1,083 -669 -669

Borrowings 209 168 892

Repayment of borrowings -391 -246 -619

Change in short term securities -104 -123 -110

Interests paid -110 -111 -128

Cash flow from financing activities IV -1,461 -999 -566

V – Effect of changes in exchange rates, consolidation method and
other V 106 15 25

VI – Change in cash and cash equivalents (note 6) (III + IV + V) 1,587 1,505 351

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period (note 12) 1,575 1,224 1,224

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (note 12) 3,162 2,729 1,575

* Changes to formerly published comparative information are detailed under supplemental disclosure B-2
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Recognized incomeandexpenses

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

(million euros)
Group
share

Minority
interests Total

Group
share

Minority
interests Total

Group
share

Minority
interests Total

Profit for the period 1,505 39 1,544 1,696 32 1,728 2,298 25 2,323

Actuarial gains/(losses) on employee benefits 169 169 -3 - -3

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges :

- unrealised gain (loss) 85 -3 82 161 3 164 1 2 3

Available-for-sale financial assets :

- gains/(losses) taken to equity 117 117 -24 -24 45 45

- transferred to profit or loss on sale - - -63 -63 -120 -120

Currency translation adjustments 55 29 84 -76 7 -69 155 25 180

Deferred tax -105 1 -104 -54 -1 -55 -3 - -3

Total income and expenses recognized
directly in equity 321 27 348 -56 9 -47 75 27 102

Total recognized income and expenses for
the period 1,826 66 1,892 1,640 41 1,681 2,373 52 2,425
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Statementsofchanges inshareholders’ equity

Shareholder’s Equity – Group share

(million euros)
Share

capital
Treasury

shares

Additional
paid-in
capital

Actuarial
gains/
losses

Fair value
reserves

Consolidated
retained

earnings and
other

reserves
Net

income

Translation
adjustments

reserves TOTAL
Minority
Interests

TOTAL
Shareholders’

equity

Shareholders’ equity as
of 01.01.2006 (published) 984 1,789 -268 157 9,846 1,782 194 14,484 298 14,782

Net income 1,696 1,696 32 1,728

Income and expenses
recognized directly in
equity 20 -76 -56 9 -47

Total recognized income
and expenses* 20 1,696 -76 1,640 41 1,681

2005 net income
allocation 1,782 -1,782

Dividends paid (0.68 euros
per share) -669 -669 -1 -670

Net acquisitions of
treasury shares -18 -18 -18

Other 6 6 49 55

Shareholders’ equity as
of 06.30.2006 (restated) 984 -18 1,789 -268 177 10,965 1,696 118 15,443 387 15,830

Net income 602 602 -7 595

Income and expenses
recognized directly in
equity -2 -98 231 131 18 149

Total recognized income
and expenses * -2 -98 602 231 733 11 744

Net disposals of treasury
shares 18 18 18

Change in scope of
consolidation

Other 3 3 68 71

Shareholders’ equity as
of 12.31.2006 (restated) 984 1,789 -270 79 10,968 2,298 349 16,197 466 16,663

Net income 1,505 1,505 39 1,544

Income and expenses
recognized directly in
equity 111 155 55 321 27 348

Total recognized income
and expenses * 111 155 1,505 55 1,826 66 1,892

2006 net income
allocation 2,298 -2,298

Dividends paid (1,1 euros
per share) -1,082 -1,082 -10 -1,092

Other 12 12 34 46

Shareholders’ equity as
of 06.30.2007 984 1,789 -159 234 12,196 1,505 404 16,953 556 17,509

* See detailed information in Recognized income and expenses on previous page.
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Notes to theconsolidated financial statements

A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. General principles for the preparation of
financial statements

Pursuant to European regulation 1606/2002 of July 19,
2002, the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
prepared using the presentation, recognition and
measurement rules prescribed by IAS/IFRS published by
the IASB and adopted by the European Union as of
June 30, 2007.

The condensed consolidated half-year financial
statements comply with standard IAS 34 concerning
interim financial reporting. They do not include all the
information required for full annual financial statements,
and are to be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements at December 31, 2006, taking into
consideration changes in accounting policies over the
period.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the
interim condensed consolidated financial statements are
consistent with those followed in the preparation of the
Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2006, after taking into consideration or,
depending on the case, except for the adoption of new
Standards and Interpretations, noted below.

2. Standards and amendments adopted
by the EU and effective for periods
beginning on or after January 1st, 2007

Standards and amendments effective for periods
beginning on January 1st, 2007 are the following :

- IFRS 7 « Financial instruments – disclosures » ;

- amendment to IAS 1 on the presentation of financial
statements – capital disclosures.

As Gaz de France ‘s financial statements as of June 30,
2007 are condensed, these standards on disclosures
required regarding financial instruments and equity will be
applied for the first time in 2007 annual financial
statements.

3. Interpretations adopted by the EU and
effective for periods beginning on or after
January 1st, 2007

Interpretations effective for periods beginning on
January 1st, 2007 are the following :

- IFRIC 7 « Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS
29 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies»;

- IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 « Share-based payment » ;

- IFRIC 10 « Interim financial reporting and impairment »

- IFRIC 9 « Reassessment of embedded derivatives ».

The first 3 interpretations are not applicable to Gaz de
France as of June 30, 2007. IFRIC 9 did not have major
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

4. Standards and interpretations adopted
by the EU but not yet effective at June 30,
2007

The following interpretation was adopted by the EU on
June 1st, 2007, and may be applied, upon option, for
periods beginning on March 1st, 2007 :

- IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 « Group and treasury share
transactions » ;

The Group did not early-adopt this interpretation. There
should be no major impact on the consolidated financial
statements at the time of adoption.

5. Standards, amendments and
interpretations issued by the IASB but not
yet adopted by the EU at June 30, 2007

- Interpretation and amendment whose early-
adoption at June 30 2007 is allowed

The following interpretation and amendment were issued
by the IASB at June 30, 2007, but are not yet adopted by
the EU:

- IFRIC 12 « Service Concession Agreements », effective
for periods beginning on January 1st, 2008, which was
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early-adopted by the Group in the preparation of the
financial statements at December 31st, 2006,

- Amendment IAS 23 « Borrowing costs », effective for
periods beginning on January 1st, 2009 and not early-
adopted by the Group at June 30, 2007. Impacts at the
time of adoption are still under review.

- Standard whose early-adoption at June 30 2007 is
not allowed

The following standard was issued by the IASB at June 30,
2007, but is not yet adopted by the EU:

- IFRS 8 « Operating segments », effective for periods
beginning on January 1st, 2009. Impacts at the time of
adoption are still under review

6. Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
requires management to make some estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses in the financial statements
or in the notes.

The financial statements reflect management’s best
estimates, based on the information available when they
are drawn up. The accounting policies applied by the
Group and the assumptions or estimates used to measure
complex transactions that require a high level of judgment
or have a material impact on the financial statements are
validated by Group management and are approved in
advance by the Audit Committee.

Actual results may be significantly different from these
estimates, due to actual conditions being different from
assumptions.

For the period ended June 30, 2007, main changes of
assumptions and estimates used for the preparation of the
Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2006 concerned the discount rate used to
compute the amount of certain provisions, which was
adjusted to reflect actual market conditions:

• provision for replacement: 4.5% at June 30, 2007, 4% at
December 31st, 2006 and at June 30, 2006 (see Note 8),

• pension benefits : 4.75% at June 30, 2007, 4.25% at
December 31st, 2006 and at June 30, 2006,

• other employee benefits : 4.5% at June 30, 2007, 4% at
December 31st, 2006 and at June 30, 2006.

7. Specific accounting policies for interim
financial statements

The specific accounting policies used for interim periods
are the following:

Employee benefits

The value of the obligation for post-employment and other
long-term benefits at June 30, 2007 has been calculated
by projecting the obligation at December 31, 2006 over a
half-year, taking into account benefits paid out and
changes in the value of fund assets during the first half of
2007.

Except for the discount rate, none of the actuarial
assumptions used in calculating the obligation –
particularly inflation rate and wage increase rates – has
been modified over the period.

Income taxes

For interim accounts, income tax (current and deferred) is
calculated by applying the best estimated average tax rate
for the prevailing fiscal year for each entity or tax group to
consolidated companies’ pre-tax income.

8. Seasonality of business

Results as of June 30 are affected by the seasonal nature
of the consumption of natural gas, which is traditionally
higher during the first half because of the winter months.

Consequently, the interim financial statements cannot be
considered as a valid base to estimate the year’s income
and cash flows.
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B - COMPARABILITY BETWEEN FINANCIAL YEARS

1 - Major transactions

1.1. Change in the consolidation method

A modification of the shareholders’agreement (without
additional acquisition) with the partner in the British E&P
company EFOG on February 1st, 2007, brought to Gaz de
France a joint control over the company justifying the
change in the consolidation method from equity to
proportionate.

The consolidation led to eliminate equity investments and
replace them by the following balances in the balance
sheet:

(million euros)

Tangible assets 212

Trade accounts and related
receivables 18

Other receivables 21

Cash and cash equivalents 113

Sub-total (I) 364

Provisions 16

Deferred tax liabilities 66

Other liabilities 26

Sub-total (II) 108

Investments in associates
(Balance sheet) (I) –(II) 256

Share in income of associates
on February 1st, 2007 11

2 - Restatement of comparative
information following the change in
accounting principle and disclosure
reclassifications adopted in 2006 annual
financial statements

2.1. Impacts of the application of IFRIC 12 –
Service concession agreements, on income
statements and cash flow statements as of
June 30, 2006

IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Agreements was published
by the IASB on November 30, 2006.

This interpretation proposes two different accounting
treatments depending on the specific terms of the
concession agreement:

- If the operator has an unconditional contractual right to
receive cash or another financial asset from the grantor for
the construction services, a financial asset should be
recognized.

- If the operator receives a right (a licence) to charge users
of the public service, this right should be recognized as an
intangible asset.

The EFRAG issued a draft recommendation for the
adoption of this interpretation by the European Union on
February 12, 2007.

The change in accounting principle resulting from the
adoption of IFRIC 12, implemented for the first time in the
2006 annual consolidated financial statements, applies to
all service concession agreements falling within the scope
of the interpretation, i.e. public gas distribution
concessions in France (Gaz de France SA) and
concessions managed by the Cofathec Group (heating
networks, Climespace). The Group considers that activities
of subsidiaries in the International Transmission and
Distribution segment carried under concession
agreements fall outside the scope of IFRIC 12.
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1/ Reminder: accounting policies applied for the
preparation of the interim financial statements at
June 30, 2006

Three draft interpretations released by the IFRIC for
comment (D12, D13 and D14) had not been completed at
the end of June 2006, and Gaz de France therefore
decided to account for its service concession agreements
in the June 30, 2006 financial statements based on the
consequences of their terms and conditions, including:

- The obligation to return the concession assets to the
grantor at the end of the concession without
compensation.

- The obligation to maintain the infrastructure to a
specified level of serviceability throughout the concession.

This decision led to certain changes compared with the
accounting treatment of these agreements under French
GAAP. In particular:

/ The concession assets and the liability corresponding
to the obligation to return the assets to the grantor at the
end of the concession continued to be recognized in the
balance sheet.

/ The concession assets were reported on a separate line
of the balance sheet, between intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment.

/ The provision for replacement was discounted in
accordance with IAS 37.

2/ Effects of applying IFRIC 12

The effects of applying IFRIC 12 are as follows:

- Effects on the presentation of the financial statements:

/ Concession assets and the related liability have been
netted off, and

/ The net asset has been recognized as an intangible
asset;

- Additional revenue has been recognized for the
exchange of assets between the grantor and the operator
without consideration;

- The method of accounting for capital renewal and
replacement costs has also been changed.

Recognition of additional revenue on the
exchange of assets

According to IFRIC 12, when – as is generally the case –
the operator builds infrastructure (start-up capital
expenditures) in exchange for the right (licence) to charge
users of the public service, revenues from construction
services should be accounted for in accordance with
IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, and the right to charge
users of the public service should be treated as an
exchange of assets and accounted for in accordance with
IAS 38 – Intangible Assets.

The Group is unable to separate the margin attributable to
the construction phase of its concession agreements from
that attributable to the operation phase, due to the basis
used to determine customer network access charges.
Consequently, revenue recognized during the construction
phase is limited to an amount equal to the costs incurred.

Change in the method of accounting for
replacement costs.

A provision is recorded to cover the cost of replacement of
assets, in accordance with IAS 37.

Prior to adopting IFRIC 12, these costs were qualified as
capital expenditure and included in cash flows from
investing activities in the cash flow statement, then
recognized in the balance sheet under “Concession
assets” once the work had been completed, meanwhile a
corresponding amount from the provision for replacement
was released through balance sheet.

IFRIC 12 states that replacement costs should not be
added to the intangible asset recognized by the operator.
As a result, these costs are no longer recognized in the
Group’s balance sheet.

Instead, they are recognized in operating expenses and
are offset by the release of a corresponding amount from
the provision for replacement.
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2.2. Changes to accounting principles and reclassification on disclosures previously published

Consolidated statements of income at 06.30.2006

Detail of changes

06.30.2006 06.30.2006 Changes IFRIC 12
Concessions

Recl. and
other

(million euros) Restated Published in 2006

Sales of goods 13,584 13,584

Services rendered 1,791 1,601 190 190

Revenues from financial affiliates 48 48

Revenues 15,423 15,233 190 190

Capitalised expenses - 165 -165 -98 -67

Purchases and other external charges -10,766 -10,615 -151 -228 77

Personnel expenses -1,298 -1,304 6 6

Other operating income 177 185 -8 -8

Other operating expenses -404 -390 -14 3 -17

Amortization and provisions -585 -714 129 137 -8

Operating income 2,547 2,560 -13 4 -17

Income from cash and cash equivalents 31 31

Gross finance costs -105 -105

Net finance costs -74 -74

Other financial income 281 281

Other financial expenses -355 -355

Share in income of associates 120 120

Income before tax 2,519 2,532 -13 4 -17

Corporate income tax -791 -793 2 -1 3

Group’s consolidated net income 1,728 1,739 -11 3 -14

Group share 1,696 1,707 -11 3 -14

Minority interests 32 32
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Consolidated statements of cash flows at 06.30.2006
Detail of changes

06.30.2006 06.30.2006 Changes IFRIC 12
Concessions

Recl. and
other

(million euros) Restated Published in 2006

Income before tax 2,519 2,519 4 2,515

Operating income 2,560 -2,560 -2,560

Adjustments :

Amortization, depreciation of long-term assets 723 713 10 10

Provisions - 1 -1 -1

Exploration expenses 23 23

Other adjustments 174 132 42 -4 46

Operating cash flow before tax, replacement costs
and change in working capital requirements 3,439 3,429 10 - 10

Replacement costs -138 - -138 -138

Changes in working capital requirements 617 630 -13 -13

Inventories 43 43

Trade and related receivables 1,406 1,406

Trade and related payables -767 -764 -3 -3

Other -65 -55 -10 -10

Corporate income tax paid -530 -530

Cash flow from operating activities I 3,388 3,529 -141 -138 -3

II – Investing activities

1. Investments

Capital expenditures -775 -912 138 138

Exploration costs directly charged to expense -13 -13

Acquisition of investments and related net of cash
acquired -53 -309 256 256

Other -303 -104 -199 -199

Sub-Total -1,144 -1,338 195 138 57

2. Proceeds

Connection fees 3 3

Proceeds from disposals of tangible and intangible
assets and investments 163 163

Proceeds from the sale of other financial assets and
repayments 47 47

Interests received 7 31 -24 -24

Dividends received 25 25

Sub-total 245 269 -24 -24

Cash flow from investing activities (1 + 2 ) II -899 -1,069 171 138 33

III – Cash flow from operating and investing
activities (I + II) III 2,489 2,460 30 - 30

IV – Financing activities

Capital increase and additional paid-in capital -18 -18

Dividends paid -669 -669

Borrowings 168 168

Repayment of borrowings -246 -246

Changes in short term securities -123 - -123 -123

Interests paid -111 -138 27 27

Cash flow from financing activities IV -999 -903 -96 - -96

V – Effect of changes in exchange rate V 15 15

VI – Change in cash and cash equivalents (III + IV + V) 1,505 1, 572 -66 - -66
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➣ Changes to disclosures previously published:
reclassifications

Reclassifications in the consolidated cash
flow statement

� The cash flow statement now starts with income before
tax. Previously, the starting point was operating income.

� The reclassification of certain cash equivalents under
“Short term securities” led to the addition of a new line,
“Change in Short term securities”, in the section of the
cash flow statement dealing with cash flows from
financing activities. An amount of 66 million euros was
reclassified to “Change in Short term securities” in the
June 2006 cash flow statement. Besides, following the
review of its portfolios with regards to interpretations
issued in 2006 by the AMF (French securities regulator),
the AFG (French Financial Management Association) and
the AFTE (French Association of Corporate Treasurers) on
the classification of mutual funds, the Group reclassified
57 millions euros from the line “Other (investments)” to the
line “Change in Short term securities”.

� Investments in Suez securities in 2006 for an amount of
256 million euros were reclassified from the line
“Acquisition of investments and related net of cash
acquired” to the line “Other”.

➣ Changes to disclosures previously published:
restatements

IFRIC 12. Concessions

The application of IFRIC 12 with a corresponding
restatement in the comparative information as of June
2006, on the basis described in Note B.2.1.1 in the
financial statements at December 31, 2006 resulted in the
recognition of additional revenue of 190 million euros
corresponding to the costs incurred for the construction of
the infrastructure, and of replacement costs for 138 million
euros offset by the release of an equivalent amount from
the related provision.

Adjustments have been made to the cash flow statement
to take into account the effects of applying IFRIC 12 for
the recognition of replacement costs.

(a) “Cash generated from operations” is now stated before
replacement costs, income taxes paid and changes in
working capital.

(b) A line “Replacement costs” has been added;
consequently replacement costs have been reclassified
from “cash flows from investing activities” to “cash flows
from operating activities”.
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C - SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES ON THE BALANCE
SHEETS, STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
1 - Segment reporting

Note 1 - Business segment reporting

Comparability

Following the implementation of the new organisation of
the Group, certain activities have been reclassified
between segments for all periods disclosed.

Main changes concern :

• Business to key-account customers of GDF Deutschland
(continental Europe) : segment PSE (formerly TDI),

• Savelys Group : segment PSE (formerly SER),

• Transmission in Europe subsidiaries (Megal GmbH,
Segeo) : segment TS (formerly TDI),

• Natural gas sales in Great Britain : segment TDI (formerly
PSE).

Business segments

The segmentation depends upon internal management
and reporting structures: a business segment
encompasses a sub-group of activities or operating
entities, each entity being separately managed and
providing regularly available financial and management
information.

The Group’s activities have been divided into six
segments, gathered into two divisions, Energy Supply and
Services and Infrastructures.

The Energy Supply and Services division (Ener. Supp.
Serv.) includes the following business segments :

• Exploration-Production (E&P)

Through its subsidiaries and its participating interests, the
Gaz de France Group enjoys a portfolio of oil and gas
assets, mainly productive assets in the North Sea and in
Germany, and fields to be explored and developed in

Algeria and Egypt. The Exploration and Production
segment sells a great part of its productions to the
Purchase and Sale of Energy segment.

• Purchase and Sale of Energy (PSE)

This segment pools sale and trading activities and
associated services. Sales include all customers:
residential customers, tertiary and other energy
companies. They are mainly carried out by Gaz de France
in France. Natural gas sales to key-account customers in
France, Germany and Belgium as well as electricity sales
in Great Britain are mainly carried out by Gaz de France.
The trading business is carried out by Gaselys. Associated
services are mainly carried out by Savelys.

• Services (SER)

The Services segment lies in complementary services to
energy supply, mainly :

- management and maintenance of facilities producing
heat or cold, industrial maintenance (Cofathec group),

- facilities in controlled environment, management of
industrial units (Cofathec group),

- electricity production (Finergaz Group)

- Natural gas vehicle (GNVert).

The Infrastructures division (Infrastr.) pools all activities
in the field of transmission and distribution, divided into
the following segments :

• Transmission – Storage (TS)

The gas transmission network in France is operated by the
subsidiary GRTgaz for Gaz de France and, in compliance
with European directives, for third parties. This segment
also includes the transmission network of Megal (South
Germany) and Segeo (Belgium) as well as the operation of
the LNG terminals and storage facilities in France.

• Distribution France (DIF)

This segment pools the management of distribution
networks in France - investing, replacements,
maintenance - carried out by Gaz de France mainly for
carrying gas for itself or for third parties.
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The distribution networks are run through concessions
granted by local authorities.

• Transmission Distribution International (TDI)

The Group holds participating interests in several gas
transmission and distribution companies, mainly in Europe
(Germany, Hungary, Slovak Republic, Portugal, Romania)
and in Mexico. Most of them also sell gas. This segment
also includes the sale of natural gas out continental
Europe (namely UK).

Other

This segment encompasses holding entities, entities
dedicated to centralised financing of the Group, as well as
entities dedicated to real estate activities.

Unallocated

Unallocated income and expenses mainly comprise head-
office expenses, research and development costs as well
as miscellaneous income that are not directly attributable
to businesses.

Unallocated fixed assets comprise headquarters’ fixed
assets, those allocated to research and to human
resources management.
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Note 1 - 1 - Statements of income

• Gaz de France Group
(restated comparative data - see above)

a) Revenues

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Sales
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total

Ener Supp. Serv 10,749 938 11,687 11,996 1,051 13,047 21,344 1,924 23,268

Infrastr. 2,979 2,280 5,259 3,366 2,546 5,912 6,178 4,610 10,788

Other 39 135 174 38 81 119 72 198 270

Unallocated 11 258 269 23 288 311 48 466 514

Eliminations - -3,611 -3,611 - -3,966 -3,966 -7,198 -7,198

Total 13,778 - 13,778 15,423 - 15,423 27,642 - 27,642

b) Other indicators

EBITDA **

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Ener Supp. Serv 1,344 1,384 1,916

Infrastr. 1,751 1,880 3,267

Other 13 -2 -2

Unallocated 2 8 -32

Total 3,110 3,270 5,149

** before replacement costs – see Note 1-2

Operating income

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Ener Supp. Serv 1,105 1,151 1,449

Infrastr. 1,229 1,283 2,087

Other -9 109 115

Unallocated 1 4 -43

Total 2,326 2,547 3,608

Share in income of associates

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Ener Supp. Serv 38 100 152

Infrastr. 14 20 24

Other - - -

Unallocated - - -

Total 52 120 176

c) Items included in operating income

Personnel expenses

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Ener Supp. Serv 504 451 890

Infrastr. 629 679 1,341

Other 15 9 24

Unallocated 159 159 326

Total 1,307 1,298 2,581

Amortization of tangible and
intangible assets

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Ener Supp. Serv 252 208 428

Infrastr. 473 472 967

Other 15 15 28

Unallocated 4 3 7

Total 744 698 1,430

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Ener Supp. Serv 1 23 49

Infrastr. -1 2 1

Other - - -2

Unallocated - - -

Total - 25 48
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• Energy Supply and Services division
(restated comparative data – see above)

a) Revenues

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Sales
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total

E&P 597 187 784 675 230 905 1,230 429 1,659

PSE 9,298 961 10,259 10,442 1,134 11,576 18,432 2,023 20,455

SER 854 54 908 879 40 919 1,682 119 1,801

Eliminations -264 -264 - -353 -353 -647 -647

Total 10,749 938 11,687 11,996 1,051 13,047 21,344 1,924 23,268

b) Other indicators

EBITDA **

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

E&P 531 635 1,270

PSE 756 684 529

SER 57 65 117

Total 1,344 1,384 1,916

** before replacement costs

Operating income

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

E&P 367 470 935

PSE 704 638 443

SER 34 43 71

Total 1,105 1,151 1,449

Share in income of associates

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

E&P 11 80 114

PSE 27 18 37

SER — 2 1

Total 38 100 152

c) Items included in operating income

Personnel expenses

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

E&P 49 50 97

PSE 242 195 383

SER 213 206 410

Total 504 451 890

Amortization of tangible and intangible
assets

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

E&P 168 145 298

PSE 61 41 89

SER 23 22 41

Total 252 208 428

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

E&P 1 23 49

PSE - - -

SER - - -

Total 1 23 49
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• Infrastructures division
(restated comparative data – see above)

a) Revenues

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Sales
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total
External

revenues

Inter-
segment

sales Total

TS 208 971 1,179 165 997 1,162 384 1,971 2,355

DIF 219 1,322 1,541 305 1,552 1,857 642 2,647 3,289

TDI 2,552 19 2,571 2,896 12 2,908 5,152 26 5,178

Eliminations -32 -32 - -15 -15 - -34 -34

Total 2,979 2,280 5,259 3,366 2,546 5,912 6,178 4,610 10,788

b) Other indicators

EBITDA **

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

TS 765 681 1,357

DIF 686 900 1,412

TDI 300 299 498

Total 1,751 1,880 3,267

** before replacement costs

Operating income

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

TS 591 512 1,013

DIF 406 552 726

TDI 232 219 348

Total 1,229 1,283 2,087

Share in income of associates

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

TS 1 - 2

DIF 3 1 2

TDI 10 19 20

Total 14 20 24

c) Items included in operating income

Personnel expenses

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

TS 148 148 289

DIF 367 418 801

TDI 114 113 251

Total 629 679 1 341

Amortization of tangible and intangible
assets

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

TS 181 171 344

DIF 217 217 444

TDI 75 84 179

Total 473 472 967

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

TS - - -

DIF - - -

TDI -1 2 1

Total -1 2 1
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Note 1 - 2 - Reconciliation of EBITDA with financial statements

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Operating cash flow before tax, replacement costs and change in WCR 3,066 3,439 5,118

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 78 -31 218

Exploration expenses -30 -23 -86

Employee benefits 28 9 31

MtM on financial derivative instrument hedging operating activities 15 -37 38

Dividends received from associates -61 -107 -217

Other 14 20 47

EBITDA before replacement costs 3,110 3,270 5,149

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Operating income 2,326 2,547 3,608

Amortization and provisions 683 585 1,247

Capital renewal and replacement costs 101 138 294

EBITDA before replacement costs 3,110 3,270 5,149

Note 2 - Geographical reporting

Secondary segment reporting is divided on the basis of the major geographical areas in which the Group operates,
including:

� France,

� Europe excluding France,

� the rest of the world.

Revenues are broken down by:

- origin (the area where sales were generated); and

- destination (the geographical area in which the beneficiary of the sale or the service is located).

Other Group indicators are broken down by location of origin.

Note 2 - 1 - Geographical reporting by location of origin

Revenues Operating income

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

France 11,015 12,132 21,920 1,653 1,769 2,173

Europe excluding France 4,087 4,439 8,082 621 744 1,373

Rest of the world 140 127 237 52 34 62

Eliminations -1,464 -1,275 -2,597 - -

Total 13,778 15,423 27,642 2,326 2,547 3,608
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Note 2 - 2 - Breakdown of revenues by geographical area of destination

Revenues

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

France 8,176 9,709 16,802

United-Kingdom 1,379 1,534 3,094

Benelux 1,036 900 1,836

Italy 646 647 1,165

Hungary 366 404 709

Germany 579 681 1,211

Other European countries 1,303 1,130 2,074

Rest of the world 293 418 751

Total 13,778 15,423 27,642
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2 - Statements of income

Note 3 - Revenues

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Sales of goods 11,917 13,584 23,849

Services rendered
and miscellaneous 1,816 1,791 3,671

Revenues from
financial affiliates 45 48 122

Revenues 13,778 15,423 27,642

As of June 30, 2007 Group revenues amounted to
13,778 million euros, down by 11% compared to June 30,
2006 due to particularly mild climatic conditions.

Note 4 - Purchases and other external
charges

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Energy purchases 7,547 8,853 15,810

Other purchases 2,018 1,980 4,390

Capitalized
expenses -119 -67 -224

Purchases and
other external
charges 9,446 10,766 19,976

The decrease in energy purchases of 12% is the
consequence of the decrease in volumes sold.

Note 5 - Research and development costs

As of June 30, 2007, research and development costs
were expensed for 41 million euros (38 million euros as of
June 30, 2006, 84 million euros as of December 31, 2006).
No development costs have been capitalized in 2007 and
2006.

Note 6 - Personnel expenses

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Wages and salaries, profit-sharing schemes included 876 847 1,651

Social contributions 243 232 499

Pension commitments and other commitments due to employees
(defined benefit programs) 77 81 184

Other costs 111 138 247

Total 1,307 1,298 2,581

Personnel expenses and workforce

Personnel expenses are stable between June 2006 and June 2007.

The Group’s workforce totalled 49,209 employees at June 30, 2007 compared with 51,855 people at June 30, 2006.
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Note 7 - Other operating income and expenses

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Reversals of allowances against current assets 39 35 66

Operating grants 13 4 10

Gains on derivative instruments (1) 93 24 54

Net income on disposals of fixed assets 77 - -

Net income on disposals of financial assets (subsidiaries) (2) 1 10 243

Negative goodwill 5 0 -

Other 92 104 253

Total other operating income 320 177 626

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Allowances against current assets 60 62 173

Other taxes 157 153 295

Losses on derivative instruments (1) 43 54 138

Net loss on disposals of fixed assets - 41 25

Other 76 94 225

Total other operating expenses 336 404 856

Other operating income and expenses -16 -227 -230

(1) Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments corresponded to the ineffective portion of gains and losses on commodity hedges
and to gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of instruments treated from an accounting point of view as held for trading.

(2) Main disposals of the period concern assets in Exploration-Production, real estates as well as an agreement providing for the
contribution of Gaz de France’s branch specialized in the sale of gas to major Italian accounts.

Disposals of tangible and intangible assets

(million euros)

At 06.30.2007 Expenses Income

Disposals of tangible and
intangible assets -41 118

Net result of disposals 77

The tax effect on the net result of disposals of tangible and
intangible assets amounted to 17 million euros.
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Note 8 - Amortization, impairment and
provisions

- Amortization

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Amortization (net
of reversals) (I) 745 699 1,430

Amortization encompassed :

▪ 193 million euros for the amortization of concession
intangible assets (192 million euros as of June 30, 2006
and 395 million euros as of December 31, 2006);

▪ 32 million euros for the amortization of other intangible
assets (30 million euros as of June 30, 2006 and 65 million
euros as of December 31, 2006);

▪ 520 million euros for the amortization of tangible assets
(475 million euros as of June 30, 2006 and 970 million
euros as of December 31, 2006), or a level higher than last
year primarily due to changes in the scope of
consolidation (namely AES Energia and EFOG).

- Impairment of assets

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Impairment of
goodwill - - -

Impairment of other
intangible assets
(net of reversals) - 1 -

Impairment of other
tangible assets (net
of reversals) - 24 48

Net impairment of
fixed assets (II) - 25 48

As of June 30, 2007, there were no indications of
impairment of assets.

Impairment tests in 2006 namely resulted in impairment of
exploration fields in the UK (23 million euros as of June 30,
2006 and 48 million euros as of December 31st, 2006).

- Provisions for risks and charges

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Allowances 187 175 479

Reversals -249 -314 -710

Net provisions for
risks and charges (III) -62 -139 -231

The main changes in the period related to allowances and
reversals of the provision for replacement.

As of June 30, 2007 the net provision for replacement was
reduced by a release of 89 million euros following the
change in discount rate from (4% to 4.5% – see Annex A).

Net provisions in June 2006 included a non-recurring
amount of 116 million euros related to the revaluation of
the company’s commitments to the restoration of lands on
which manufactured gas production plants were located.

(million euros)

Total amortization,
impairment and provisions (I) + (II) + (III) 683 585 1,247
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Note 9 - Financial income

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

NET FINANCE COST

Proceeds from cash and cash equivalents : 64 31 73

Gross finance cost -132 -105 -196

Interest expenses -133 -112 -206

Net foreign currency translation adjustments 1 7 10

TOTAL NET FINANCE COST -68 -74 -123

OTHER FINANCIAL ITEMS

Other financial income

Exchange gains not linked with financial debts 43 37 80

Gains on exchange rate derivative instruments 2 1 3

Gains on investments derivative instruments 42 61

Dividends received 24 29 51

Interest income 17 15 32

Expected return on plan assets 46 45 86

Net proceeds of sales of non-current financial assets 2 56 113

Reversals of provisions for financial risks and charges 20 12 19

Other 71 44 70

Sub-total 225 281 515

Other financial expenses

Exchange losses not linked with financial debts -8 -45 -127

Loss on exchange rate derivative instruments -1 -5 -1

Loss on investments derivative instruments -41 -57

Interest costs (borrowings excluded) -7 -2 -9

Unwinding effect of discount of provisions for employee benefits -63 -67 -129

Unwinding effect of discount of other provisions -148 -142 -285

Impairment of non-current financial assets -3

Granted financial forgiveness of debt -1 -1

Financial provisions for risks and charges -4 -8 -35

Other -24 -45 -102

Sub-total -256 -355 -749

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL ITEMS -31 -74 -234
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Note 10 - Earnings per share

Note 10 - 1 - Non-diluted earnings per share

06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Numerator

Net income – Group share (millions of euros) 1,505 1,696 2,298

Denominator

Average number of outstanding shares (in thousands) 983,730 983,760 983,719

Earnings value per share (non diluted) (euros) 1.53 1.72 2.34

Note 10 - 2 - Profit diluted per share

No dilutive instrument existed. Consequently, diluted earnings per share are identical to the non-diluted earnings per share.
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3 - Balance Sheets - Assets

Note 11 - Intangible, tangible and non-current financial assets

(million euros) Goodwill
Concessions

(WIP incl.)

Other
Intangible

assets
Tangible

assets

Non-current
financial

assets Total

Gross book value as of 12.31.2006 1,819 11,079 826 24,799 1,410 39,933

Additions 131 86 834 63 1,114

Disposals -3 -111 -54 -168

Change in scope of consolidation 16 547(**) -4 559

Foreign currency translation adjustments 20 131 1 152

Other 9 -3 -33 29(*) 2

Gross book value as of 06.30.2007 1,855 11,219 906 26,167 1,445 41,592

Amortization and impairment as of 12.31.2006 170 5,374 263 8,174 68 14,050

Amortization for the year 193 32 522 747

Reversals -1 -53 -54

Impairment – charges 2 2

Impairment – reversals -6 -6

Change in scope of consolidation 282(**) 282

Foreign currency translation adjustments 27 27

Other 3 -6 -5 -8

Amortization and impairment as of 06.30.2007 170 5,570 289 8,943 68 15,040

Net book value as of 12.31.2006 1,649 5,705 563 16,625 1,341 25,883

Net book value as of 06.30.2007 1,685 5,649 618 17,224 1,376 26,552

(*) including 39 million euros of fair value adjustment (AFS)

(**) including EFOG’s first consolidation – see also B.1.1.
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Note 12 - Cash and cash equivalents

(million euros) 06.30.2007 12.31.2006 Change

Cash on hand and bank accounts 906 895 11

Money market mutual investment fund (SICAV and FCP) 2,168 941 1,227

Certificates of deposit and time deposits with maturities within 3 months 618 360 258

Cash equivalents 2,786 1,301 1,485

Cash and cash equivalents 3,692 2,196 1,496

Total bank overdrafts -578 -685 107

Current accounts considered as cash 42 58 -16

Other 6 6 -

Change in cash in the cash flow statement 3,162 1,575 1,587

4 - Balance Sheets - Liabilities

Note 13 - Shareholders’ equity -
Outstanding shares

Note 13 a. Outstanding shares

Share capital 06.30.2007 12.31.2006

Issued and fully paid-up
shares 983,871,988(1) 983,871,988(1)

Issued and not fully
paid-up shares - -

Total number of shares 983,871,988 983,871,988

(1) Nominal value : 1 euro

Each share is granted a simple voting right.

Non-diluted earnings per share were calculated by dividing
the annual net income by the average number of shares
outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share were calculated by dividing the
annual net income by the average number of shares
including possible dilutive instruments. As of June 30,
2007, there were no dilutive instruments.

Note 13 b. Treasury shares

Gaz de France implemented a liquidity contract in
application of a decision of the Board dated April 26,

2006. This contract conforms to the code of conduct
established by the French Association of Investment
Companies (“Association Française des Entreprises
d’Investissement”) and approved by the “Autorité des
Marchés Financiers” in its decision dated March 22, 2005.
Treasury shares held at the closing date are deducted
from shareholders’ equity.

As of June 30, 2007, there were no treasury shares.

Note 13 c. Free share allocation plan

The Combined General Shareholders’ Meeting of May 23,
2007 authorized the Board of Directors in its 16th
resolution to make allocations of existing ordinary shares
free of charge to employees representing a maximum of
0.2% of the share capital.

The Board of Directors, in its meeting dated June 20,
2007, made the decision to implement the free share
allocation plan.

This allocation plan grants the right to receive shares of
the company free of charge, subject to an acquisition
period of 2 years and, to certain categories of them,
subject to satisfaction of specified performance
conditions.

The number of allocations is about 1.4 million shares.

No other equity instrument has been allocated in 2007.
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Description of the valuation model

In accordance with IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payment, Gaz
de France measured the fair value of the goods or services
received by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted.

The fair value was measured at grant date. The fair value
of a granted share corresponds to the market price of the
share on the grant date after adjustment on the one hand
for the expected loss of dividends during the two-year
vesting period and on the other hand the holding period
attached to the shares. The cost arising from the holding
period is not material. The discount rate used is a risk-free
rate

The expense representing the cost of these free share
plans is amortised against equity over the period staring
from June 20, 2007 to the date on which conditions for
allocation will be removed.

Based on the allocation of rights for free shares on
June 20, 2007, or 1.4 million shares, the maximum
expense corresponding to the fair value of shares that

could eventually be distributed, subject to the satisfaction
of performance conditions set by the Board of Directors of
Gaz de France, is around 47 million euros before tax.

It will be adjusted on the basis of possible revisions on
assumptions linked with the actual workforce departure
rate in the period and the satisfaction of performance
conditions. It will be definitely fixed on the basis of the
number of shares actually distributed at the end of this
period

The expense recognized in the income statement as of
June 30, 2007 was 0.8 million euros.

Note 13 d. Dividends

In accordance with the approval by the Combined General
Shareholders’ Meeting which was held on May 23, 2007,
Gaz de France paid out on May 30, 2007 the dividends for
the 2006 tax year in an amount of 1,082 million euros, or
1.1 euros per share.

Note 14 - Provisions (employee benefits excluded)*

(million euros)
Provision for
replacement

Site
restoration Litigation Other

Total
Provisions

As of December 31, 2006 3,874 1,701 135 207 5,917

Allowances (statement of income) 154 - 9 24 187

Increase (by balance sheet) ** - 4 - -1 3

Amount utilized during the period -101 -12 -11 -19 -143

Unutilized amount reversed during the period -89 - - -30 -119

Decrease (by balance sheet) ** - - - -1 -1

Reclassification - -2 - 2 -

Change in scope of consolidation - 18 - 3 21

Foreign currency translation adjustments - 2 - 1 3

Unwinding of discount 109 39 - - 148

Other - - - 2 2

As of June 30, 2007 3,947 1,750 133 188 6,018

* Employee benefits are detailed in note 15

** See § on provision for site restoration below
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Provision for replacement

It primarily concerns replacement of Gaz de France’s
distribution infrastructure in France.

This provision was discounted using an inflation rate of
2% and a nominal discount rate of 4.5%, based on the
assumption that the obligations will be settled in an
average of around 13 years. The discount rate was 4% at
December 31, 2006. The adjustment of the rate to market
conditions resulted in a release of the provision of
89 million euros as of June 30, 2007.

Provision for site restoration

It primarily concerns Gaz de France, GRTgaz and its
Exploration and Production subsidiaries.

The Gaz de France and GRTgaz sites concerned are:

- first the lands on which manufactured gas production
plants were located. The accrual, determined statistically

on the basis of samples of representative sites, amounted
to 36 million euros as of June 30, 2007 (41 million euros as
of December 31, 2006),

- second, pipelines, storage facilities and LNG terminals in
service (1,262 million euros as of June 30, 2007,
1,231 million euros as of December 31, 2006).

For operated sites as for Exploration and Production
facilities (408 million euros as of June 30, 2007, 386 million
euros as of December 31, 2006), the present value of
estimated dismantling costs was fully accrued, with a
corresponding entry in property, plant, and equipment.
Depreciation of the corresponding asset was charged to
operating income and the unwinding of the discount was
charged to financial income.

This provision was discounted using an inflation rate of
2% and a nominal discount rate of 4% for exploration and
production assets and 5% for Gaz de France and GRTgaz
transmission and distribution assets, reflecting the
respective periods in which the related obligations are
expected to be settled.

Note 15 - Retirement commitments and other commitments to employees

➣ Main actuarial assumptions for the measurement of obligations

Assumptions on mortality, employee turnover, pay increases, financial discounting and plan assets return were set
according to each country’s own economic and demographic environment.

Retirement
benefits Other employee benefits

Discount rate
(Euro zone) 4.75% 4.75% ou 4.50% depending on risks

Expected rate of return on plan assets 4.48% Between 4% et 6% depending on countries
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➣ Determination of amounts posted in the balance sheet and statement of income

Retirement benefits Other employee benefits

(million euros)
Liabilities

(1)
Assets

(2)

Net assets /
liabilities

(1 - 2)
Liabilities

(1)
Assets

(2)

Net assets /
liabilities

(1 - 2)

Opening 1,854 1,907 -53 1,114 114 1,000

Income or expenses of the period 105 43 62 33 3 30

Contributions paid to funds for the part of
financed programs - 48 -48 - 3 -3

Benefits paid -49 -39 -10 -40 - -40

Actuarial gains or losses -99 26 -125 -41 2 -43

Initial, fixed-rate and final contributions - - - - - -

Other - -1 1 29 2 27

Closing 1,811 1,984 -173 1,095 124 971

➣ Elements of costs of the period

Retirement benefits Other employee benefits Total

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 06.30.2007 06.30.2006

Current service cost 64 64 11 16 75 80

Interest cost 41 41 22 26 63 67

Settlement - - - - - -

Expected return on plan assets -43 -42 -3 -3 -46 -45

Cost of defined benefit plans 62 63 30 39 92 102

➣ Reconciliation with balance sheet

(million euros) 06.30.2007 12.31.2006

Retirement 132 142

Other employee benefits 971 1,000

Provision for employee benefits in balance sheet 1,103 1,142
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Note 16 - Net financial debt

06.30.2007 12.31.2006

(million euros) > 1 year < 1 year Total > 1 year < 1 year Total

Outstanding borrowings 3,910 1,132 5,042 3,943 1,461 5,404

Irredeemable securities 624 - 624 624 - 624

Gross debt 4,534 1,132 5,666 4,567 1,461 6,028

Derivatives hedging borrowings under liabilities 14 6 20 6 5 11

Gross debt (financial instruments incl.) 4,548 1,138 5,686 4,573 1,466 6,039

Short term securities -86 -378 -464 -88 -272 -360

Cash and cash equivalents - -3,692 -3,692 - -2,196 -2,196

Derivatives hedging borrowings under assets -85 -6 -91 -16 -2 -18

Net cash -171 -4,076 -4,247 -104 -2,470 -2,574

Net debt (financial instruments incl.) 4,377 -2,938 1,439 4,469 -1,004 3,465

Outstanding borrowings 4,534 1,132 5,666 4,567 1,461 6,028

Short term securities -86 -378 -464 -88 -272 -360

Cash and cash equivalents - -3,692 -3,692 - -2,196 -2,196

Total net debt excluding the impact of financial
instruments 4,448 -2,938 1,510 4,479 -1,007 3,472

Note 16 - 1 - Debt / equity ratio

(million euros) 06.30.2007 12.31.2006

Net debt 1,510 3,472

Shareholders’ equity 17,509 16,663

Debt / equity ratio 8,6% 20,8%
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Note 16 - 2 - Net debt by category

(million euros) 06.30.2007 12.31.2006

Irredeemable securities 624 624

Bonds 2,004 2,004

Bank borrowings 1,166 1,286

Finance leases 814 817

Lines of credit 68 57

Commercial paper and treasury bills 250 410

Other 170 151

Total long-term borrowings 5,096 5,349

Bank overdrafts 570 679

Total gross debt 5,666 6,028

Short term securities -464 -360

Cash and cash equivalents -3,692 -2,196

Total net debt excluding the impact of financial instruments 1,510 3,472

5 - Statements of cash flows

Note 17 - Statements of cash flows

Investing and financing transactions without cash impact in the period

(million euros) 06.30.2007 06.30.2006 12.31.2006

Lease acquisitions 6 - 143

Capital expenditures AES Energia Cartagena
(change in scope of consolidation in 2006) - - 671
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6 - Financial Instruments

Note 18 - Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments mainly to manage risks related to currency exchange, interest rate and
commodity price, to which it is exposed in the course of its operations.

Asset Liability

06.30.2007 12.31.2006 06.30.2007 12.31.2006

(million euros)
Non-

current Current Total Total
Non-

current Current Total Total

Commercial transactions

- Currency exchange deriv. 1 1 7 7 6

- Commodity derivatives 1,512 1,512 2,316 1,377 1,377 2,172

Sub-total 1,513 1,513 2,316 1,384 1,384 2,178

Financial transactions

- Currency exchange deriv. 1 1 1 1

- Interest rate derivative 84 15 99 26 13 15 28 19

Sub-total 85 15 100 26 14 15 29 19

Total financial derivative
instruments 85 1,528 1,613 2,342 14 1,399 1,413 2,197

Commercial transactions 3 3 3 59 59 100

Financial transactions

Total hedged firm commitments 3 3 3 59 59 100

Note 19 - Information on risks

Note 19 a - Market risk on commodities

Commodity derivative instruments (natural gas, oil,
electricity) held by the Group primarily consisted in swaps,
forward contracts and options entered into by the parent
company to manage the “price” risk. Most of these
instruments are negotiated with third-parties by the
specialised subsidiary Gaselys, proportionately
consolidated at 51%.

These derivative instruments are particularly used in the
management of risks associated to the following
operations:

� Price engineering aimed at responding to customers’
increasing expectations in the field of the management of
the price risk on gas or electricity. They mainly aim at
securing commercial margin, whatever the evolution of
commodity index considered for the price proposed to
customers, even if this index diverge from the commodity
index to which the Group’s supply is exposed;

� Index creations, which are generated to balance the
volume indexation of the supply portfolio on indexes of the
Belgian market (Zeebrugge) and the British market (NBP)
to hedge future possible sales for which counterparts
would request this type of indexes;
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� Optimization of supply costs, giving value to a part of the
flexibility embedded in its supply contracts, its electricity
production tools, its storage capacities and its
regasification capacities, to choose its sourcing between
short-term markets and supply contracts depending on
seasons.

In connection with its trading activities, the Group also
entered into forward contracts on natural gas, oil and
electricity for which it can operate net settlement or gross
delivery, according to the requirements of its energy
balance.

Note 19 b - Interest rate and foreign exchange risk

Gaz de France chose a centralized management of risk at
Group head level. This should permit the implementation
of a policy insuring the identification, the comprehensive
management and the reporting of risks. In this context, the
management of financial risks, and in particular interest
rate and foreign exchange risk, is the responsibility of the
Finance division, which monitors the periodic cross-
division decision-making bodies, devoted to financial risks:
the Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Committee and
the Credit Committee.

Foreign exchange risk:

With a view to managing its exposure to fluctuations of
currency rates, the Group uses forward purchases and
sales of currencies or options to hedge its gas purchases,
its capital expenditures and its financing activities.

The US dollar portion of certain planned capital
expenditures are subject to an economic hedging against
the risk of the appreciation of the parity euro / US dollar
through forward purchases for a hedged notional amount
of 7 million US dollars, and call knock-out options for a
hedged notional amount of 60 million US dollars.

The maturity of these economic hedgings does not exceed
2010.

Interest rate risk:

On January 23, 2006, Gaz de France hedged the interest
rate risk on its A series irredeemable securities by means
of a swap on a notional amount of 480 million euros
expiring on October 15, 2035. Under the terms of the
swap, Gaz de France receives a floating rate of interest

corresponding to the average annual 10-year Constant
Maturity Swap (CMS) rate in euros and pays an all-in fixed
rate of 4.3285%.

In 2006, Gaz de France also converted part of its 5.125%
bond issue due February 2018 to floating rate debt, by
means of a swap on a notional amount of 80 million euros.
The swap represents a fair value hedge and qualifies for
hedge accounting. An additional cap hedging (that does
not qualify for hedge accounting) protects the Group
against rises in rates beyond 3.230%.

The Group has also purchased interest rate swaps to
convert medium- and long-term floating rate debt to fixed
rate debt. The total notional amount of these swaps at
June 30, 2007 was 841 million euros.

In 2001 and 2003, the Group sold employee home loans to
a special purpose entity under securitization programs.
Gaz de France remains exposed to a marginal interest rate
risk on these loans, representing a notional amount equal
to the difference between the actual outstanding principal
and the assumed outstanding principal as estimated at the
time of the securitization. The Group’s residual exposure
at June 30, 2007 stood at 12 million euros. The notional
amount of the corresponding interest rate swaps, which
are recognized in the balance sheet, is 274 million euros.
This amount breaks down between 131 million euros in
swaps where Gaz de France pays a floating rate and
receives a fixed rate, and 143 million euros in swaps where
Gaz de France pays a fixed rate and receives a floating
rate.

The Group’s financial affiliates hedge interest rate risks on
their fixed rate assets using interest rate swaps that enable
them to refinance the assets at fixed rates. The notional
amount of these swaps at June 30, 2007 was 252 million
euros.

Trading transactions in dollar or euro futures are
economically hedged against the net interest risk using
interest rate swaps:

/ swaps where Gaz de France pays a fixed rate and
receives a floating rate on a notional amount of 280 million
euros at June 30, 2007,

/ swaps where Gaz de France receives a fixed rate and
pays a floating rate on a notional amount of 164 million
euros at June 30, 2007.

Spot currency risks are managed on an aggregate basis.
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Note 19 c - Liquidity risk

The Group ensured its daily liquidity through a treasury
bills program for a maximum amount of 1.25 billion euros
and commercial paper programs for a maximum amount
of 1 billion US dollars (markets of the US Commercial
Paper and of the Euro Commercial Paper), which make
possible the use of the funds not only for current cash
needs but also in case of external growth operations.

As of June 30, 2007 only the treasury bills program was
drawn in the amount of 250 million euros.

On February 18, 2005, Gaz de France contracted a new
syndicated loan to replace the one dating back to 2002,
amounting to 3 billion euros with maturity in February
2012, unused as of June 30, 2007.

In order to optimize the liquidity management at Group
level, the Finance division of Gaz de France implemented
further an automated “cash-pooling” system within
European affiliates.

Note 19 d - Credit risk

The Group credit risk or counterparty risk is monitored by
the Credit Committee. It corresponds to the loss the
Group would have to bear in case of a counterparty’s
failure, leading to the non-compliance of its contractual
obligations vis à vis Gaz de France. The Group policy on
this issue is based on a systematic diversification of its
counterparty portfolio and on the follow-up of the financial
position of its most important counterparties. This
follow-up guarantees the sufficient reactivity to manage
this risk immediately and to reduce the impact of failure of
the Group’s important counterparties by using the relevant
legal instruments (“netting” arrangements, invoice
requirements, issue of bank endorsement or parent
company guarantees, other guarantees...).

Bank counterparties with which the Group deals must
have a rating by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s equal or
higher than A- / A3 respectively for the long terms and the
best rating for the short terms, except for particular cases
duly authorized by the Chief Financial Officer.

The Group pays an increasing attention to customer and
supplier counterparties. The governance framework is
based on a regular follow-up (at least an annual review) of
the financial position of major customers. Its aims are both
prevention (guarantee requirements and other restrictive

conditions to deal with the counterparty) and valuation of
this risk in connection with prices proposed to major
customers.

“Trading” counterparties are also specifically analyzed in
the Gaselys Risk Committee, where Risk representatives
of both parent companies sit, Gaz de France and the
Société Générale. The Gaselys portfolio counterparties
show a very satisfying average rating with over 80% of the
counterparty risk presenting a financial profile similar to a
long term rating higher than A-/A3 at S&P/Moody’s.

7 - Other Information

Note 20 - Consolidated commitments

The following note should be read in addition to
information with regards to granted and received
commitments as disclosed in note 27 « consolidated
commitments » of the audited consolidated financial
statements for the period ended December 31, 2006
(included in the 2006 prospectus).

Commitments on equity interests

The Group had entered into simultaneous sale and
purchase options on shares with the current shareholders
of two Italian gas distribution companies (Arcalgas and
Italcogim). These options could be exercised until 2007 for
a total of 0.4 billion euros. They were exercised in
conjunction with the reorganization of the Group’s
operations in Italy, leading to the creation – under the
agreements between Gaz de France and Camfin Spa –of:

- A joint venture that is 60%-owned by Camfin Spa and
40% by Gaz de France, to which the marketing operations
of Arcalgas and Italcogim have been transferred. Gaz de
France holds a call option on a further 20% of the shares,
exercisable as from 2007. This option has been valued at
between 83 and 89 million euros.

- A joint venture with the Covati family, to which the
distribution operations of Arcalgas and Italcogim have
been transferred. Gaz de France holds a call option on the
Covati family’s 25.5% stake in the joint venture, which is
exercisable as from 2008. The value of this option is
estimated at 134 million euros.
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Other purchase options on shares amounted to 310 million
euros (of which Gaselys for 217 million euros) and sale
options of shares to 304 million euros.

The Group is committed to subscribe to future capital
increases for 19 million euros.

Capital expenditures commitments

(million euros)

Total

Payments due by period

Contract obligations

Within
one
year

From one
to five
years

At more
than
five

years

Capital expenditure
commitments 1,712 771 887 54

Other commitments 14 2 3 9

Total 1,726 773 890 63

(Amounts are not discounted)

Capital expenditure commitments amounted to
1,712 million euros and were mainly:

• 133 million euros for the construction of the LNG
terminal of Fos Cavaou (which should be operating in
2008),

• 252 million euros mainly related to the replacement and
extension expenditures for Romanian and French
distribution networks, and 131 million euros related to IT
expenditures.

• 1,052 million euros related to the capital expenditures of
the Exploration and Production segment (of which
720 million euros to be spread between 2007 and 2008)

Note 21 - Information on related parties

The Group concluded various transactions with related
companies, which were all carried out in the normal course
of its activities.

In accordance with the Group policy, these transactions
were carried out at current market conditions. They
included:

- relations of a commercial or financial nature between
Gaz de France and its subsidiaries, in accordance with the
usual practices for transactions between the parent
company and affiliated companies, mainly energy
purchases and sales and cash pooling;

- relations with EDF, with which a certain number of
shared services exist, mainly for local public service
operating activities through the EDF Gaz de France
Distribution structure and for human resource
management; energy supply and services in connection
with local authorities and State services.

Relations with the CNIEG (Caisse Nationale des Industries
Electriques et Gazières), which manages old age, disability
and survivors’ pensions for employees of EDF, Gaz de
France and non-nationalized companies are detailed in
note 26 of the consolidated annual financial statements at
December 31, 2006.

Transactions with related parties remained consistent with
the 2006 ones and namely no unusual transaction in its
nature or amount occurred during the period.
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Note 22 - Scope of consolidation

Percentage interest

Companies Country
Cons.Meth.

2007
June
2007

December
2006

June
2006

GAZ DE France
France

Parent
company

Parent
company

Parent
company

Parent
company

Energy supply and services

Exploration-Production

GDF Britain Group United Kingdom F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Efog United Kingdom P 22.50 22.50 22.50

GDF Production Nederland Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Holding Noordze Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

N.G.T. Netherlands P 38.57 38.57 38.57

GDF Exploration Algeria Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Exploration Egypt Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Exploration Germany Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Exploration Lybia Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Exploration Mauritania Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Exploration UK Netherlands F - Liquidated 100.00

GDF Participation Nederland Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

E.E.G. Group Germany F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Gaz de France Production Exploration
Deutschland Germany F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Gaz de France Norge Norway F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Production North Sea Netherlands Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Enerci Ivory Coast F 100,00 - -

Purchase and sale of energy

Messigaz France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF International Trading France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

G.D.F. Armateur France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

G.D.F. Armateur 2 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Méthane Investissements 2 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Méthane Investissements 3 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GazTransport et Technigaz France E 40.00 40.00 40.00

Méthane Transport France P 50.00 50.00 50.00

NYK Armateur France P 40.00 40.00 40.00
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Percentage interest

Companies Country
Cons.Meth.

2007
June
2007

December
2006

June
2006

Gaselys France P 51.00 51.00 51.00

Gaselys UK United Kingdom P 51.00 51.00 51.00

GDF Energy Supply & Solutions
Group United Kingdom F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Med lng & Gas United Kingdom P 50.00 50.00 50.00

GDF Supply Trading & Marketing Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

AES Energie Cartagena Spain F 26.00 26.00 -

GDF Comercializadora Spain F 100.00 - -

Maïa Eolis France P 49.00 49.00 -

Cycofos France F 100.00 100.00 -

DK6 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Savelys Group (ex CGST-Save) France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Energy Deutschland Germany F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Investissements 24 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Investissements 29 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Banque SOLFEA France P 54.72 54.72 54.72

GNL Transport Investissements France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GNL Marine Investissements France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Services

Cofathec Group France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Finergaz Group France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GNVert France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Thion Group France E 34.00 34.00 34.00

Infrastructures

Transmission and storage

GRTgaz France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Société du Terminal Méthanier de
Fos Cavaou France F 69.70 69.70 69.70

Megal GmbH Germany P 44.00 44.00 44.00

Gaz de France Deutschland Germany F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Gaz de France Deutschland
Transport Germany F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Segeo Belgium E 25.00 25.00 25.00

Distribution France

Gaz de Strasbourg France E 24.90 24.90 24.90
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Percentage interest

Companies Country
Cons.Meth.

2007
June
2007

December
2006

June
2006

Transmission Distribution
International

Italcogim Group Italy E - Transferred 40.00

Arcalgas Energie Italy E - Transferred 42.65

Arcalgas Progetti Italy E - Transferred 44.17

RETI Group Italy E 68.50 68.50 -

VENDITE Group Italy E 40.00 40.00 -

Energie Investimenti (ex GDF
Milano) Italy P 40.00 40.00 100.00

Gasag Group Germany P 31.57 31.57 31.57

SPE Group Belgium P 25.50 25.50 25.50

Portgas Portugal E 12.67 12.67 12.67

Egaz-Degaz Hungary F 99.74 - -

Degaz Hungary F Merged 99.77 99.77

Egaz Hungary F Merged 99.42 99.42

Egaz-Degaz Réseau Hungary F 100.00 - -

Edenergia Hungary F 100.00 - -

Distrigaz Sud Romania F 40.80 40.80 40.80

Pozagas Slovak Republic P 43.37 43.37 43.38

Slovensky Plynarensky Priemysel
Group (SPP) Slovak Republic P 24.50 24.50 24.50

Nafta Group Slovak Republic P 13.50 13.50 13.50

GDF Québec Group Canada F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Noverco Group Canada E 17.56 17.56 17.56

Energia Mayakan Mexico F 67.50 67.50 67.50

Servicios Mayakan Mexico F 67.50 67.50 67.50

Compania Gasoductos del Bajio Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Gasoductos del Bajio Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

MI Comercializadora Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

MI Consultadores Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

MI Servicios Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Transnatural Mexico P 50.00 50.00 50.00

Consorcio Mexigaz Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Natgasmex Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Tamauligas Mexico F 100.00 100.00 100.00
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Percentage interest

Companies Country
Cons.Meth.

2007
June
2007

December
2006

June
2006

Gas del Sur France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Styrie Investissements France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Laurentides Investissements France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Investissements 35 France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Verona Investissements France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Segebel Belgium P 50.00 50.00 50.00

MI del Bajio Marketing Netherlands F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Merida Pipeline Netherlands F 67.50 67.50 67.50

Mayakan Pipeline Netherlands F 67.50 67.50 67.50

Slovak Gas Holding Netherlands P 50.00 50.00 50.00

Romania Gas Holding Netherlands F 80.00 80.00 80.00

Merida Holding Barbados F 67.50 67.50 67.50

GDF ESS Trading United Kingdom F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Other

Cogac France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF International France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

S.F.I.G. France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

Société Immobilière Assomption
La Fontaine France F 100.00 100.00 100.00

GDF Production Investissements France F - Merged 100.00

GDF Production Investissements
Pays-Bas France F - Merged 100.00

GDF Berliner Investissements France F - Merged 100.00

Mexique Investissements France F - Merged 100.00

GDF Investissements 2 France F - Merged 100.00

Information regarding the consolidation method of the following subsidiaries:

▪ Gaselys: joint control with the Société Générale justifies the use of the proportionate consolidation method.

▪ SPP Group: joint control with the Slovakian State and the Rhurgas company justifies the use of proportionate
consolidation method.

▪ SPE Group: The interest is owned through a jointly controlled entity with Centrica resulting in proportionate consolidation.

▪ Noverco Group: the possibility to participate in decisions in the field of financial and operational policy justifies the
consolidation by the equity method.

▪ Banque Solfea: joint control with the Cofinoga Group justifies the use of the proportionate consolidation method.

▪ AES Energia Cartagena: the control exercised by the Group justifies the use of the full consolidation method.

▪ Reti group: only 18.5% of shares held by the Group grant a voting right, in addition the right to participate to the financial
and operating strategic decisions justifies the equity consolidation.
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Note 23 - Exchange rates used in the financial statements

The main exchange rates used out the euro zone are listed below:

06.30.2007 12.31.2006 06.30.2006

Average
rate

Closing
rate

Average
rate

Closing
rate

Average
rate

Closing
rate

Currencies / EURO

USD U.S. dollar 1.33 1.35 1.26 1.32 1.23 1.27

CAD Canadian dollar 1.51 1.42 1.42 1.53 1.40 1.41

HUF Hungarian forint 250.29 246.15 264.13 251.77 260.56 283.35

CHF Swiss franc 1.63 1.66 1.57 1.61 1.56 1.57

SKK Slovak krown 34.05 33.64 37.21 34.43 37.56 38.35

GBP English pound 0.67 0.67 0.68 0.67 0.69 0.69

MXN Mexican peso 14.55 14.60 13.70 14.23 13.39 14.37

NOK Norwegian krone 8.14 7.97 8.05 8.24 7.93 7.94

ROL Romanian lei 3.33 3.13 3.52 3.38 3.54 3.57
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Statementby theperson responsible for thedocument

I hereby certify that, to my knowledge, the condensed consolidated financial statements presented in the interim
financial report have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair
view of assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the Group, and that the interim financial report includes a
fair review of the information referred to in Article 222-6 of the general regulations of the French Autorité des
Marchés Financiers concerning major events that have occurred during the first six months of fiscal 2007 and the
impact of those events on the half-year consolidated financial statements, as well as a description of the principal
risks and principal uncertainties for the remaining six months of fiscal 2007.

Paris, August 28th, 2007

Jean-François Cirelli
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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92075 Paris-La Défense

S.A. au capital de € 8.320.000

Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la compagnie

régionale de Versailles

ERNST & YOUNG Audit
Faubourg de l’Arche
11, allée de l’Arche

92037 Paris-La Défense Cedex
S.A.S. à capital variable

Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la compagnie

régionale de Versailles

Gaz de France, S.A.
Period from January 1 to June 30, 2007

Statutory auditors’ review report on the first half-year financial information for 2007
This is a free translation into English of the statutory auditors’ review report issued in French and is provided solely for the
convenience of English speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and constructed in accordance
with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the Shareholders,

In our capacity of statutory auditors and in accordance with the requirements of article L. 232-7 of the French Commercial
Law (the Code de Commerce), we hereby report to you on:

• the review of the accompanying condensed half-year consolidated financial statements of Gaz de France, for the period
January 1 to June 30, 2007,

• the verification of information contained in the half-year management report.

These condensed half-year consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our role is to
express a conclusion on these financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. A review of interim financial
information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying
analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with
professional standards applicable in France and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would
become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying interim
condensed consolidated financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34 –
standard of the IFRS as adopted by the European Union applicable to Interim financial information.

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the information given in the interim
half-year financial report commenting the condensed half-year consolidated financial statements subject to our review.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the condensed half-year consolidated financial
statements.

Paris-La Défense, August 28th, 2007

The Statutory Auditors

MAZARS & GUERARD ERNST & YOUNG Audit

Michel Barbet-Massin Marie-Laure Philippart Patrick Gounelle Philippe Hontarrède

Gaz de France S.A.
Period from January 1 to June 30, 2007
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